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-- consistent with Contadora principles*, we have
urged the Sandinistas to enter into direct talks with the
Nicaraguan democratic resistance and civil opposition,

ﬁ.é. support for Contadora

e

As Secretary of State Shultz informed the International
court of Justice in August, 1984: '

The United States fully supports the objectives
already agreed upon in the Contadora process as a basis
for a solution nf the conflict in Central America. The
objectives of United States policy toward Nicaragua are

. entirely consistent with those broader agreed objectives
and full and verifiable implementation of the Contadora
Document of Objectives would fully meet the goals of the
United States in Central America....

'By design of Contadora's participants, the United States
does not take part in the Contadora process. In October 1982,
three months before Contadora's inception, the United States
and seven other democratic states of the region sought. to
engage Nicaragua in a multilateral diplomatic dialogue. But

.the sandinistas declined to receive the Costa Rican Foreign

Minister, acting as emissary for the group, on the grounds that
a dialogue with a group including the United States would be
structured to its disadvantage. When Colonbia, Mexico, Panama,
and Venezuela subsequently initiated the Contadora process,
they chose not to include the United States in order to meet
this Sandinista concern. Informed of this decision through
diplomatic channels, we indicated our understanding and support
for this initiative, **

The means available to us to support these regional
negotiations as a result are necessarily indirect. Our support
has taken various forms. Since contadora began, we have made
it clear repeatedly, both publicly and privately, that we
support Contadora objectives. The President expressed that
support authoritatively on April 27, 1983, before a Joint

* The Document of Objectives and all three drafts of a

- ~.Contadora agreement proviae for dialogue to promote national

reconciliation,

** Tronically, Nicaragua in time objected to Contadora on the
grounds that the United States was not a participant. This
was a major reason why the Manzanillo talks were undertaken,
President Ortega is reported to have suggested U.S.
participation in the Contadora process during meetings with
other Latin American leaders in New York, in October, 198S5.
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Session of the congress.® Shortly thereafter the President
created the position of United States Special Envoy for
Central America to give focus to that support and make it
more effective,

Former Senator Richard Stone served as Special Envoy from
May 1983 to February 1984, Ambassador Harry W. Shlaudeman was
appointed U.S. Special Envoy in March 1984 and has served
continuously since that time., 1In twenty months Ambassador
Shlaudeman has made 34 trips abroad and held 179 separate
exchanges with ranking officials.

The United States sought to support Contadora directly
during nine rounds of bilateral talks with the Government of
Nicaragua June-December 1984. Those talks were undertaken at
the request of the Contadora Group for the express purpose of
facilitating a successful outcome of the Contadora process.
Nicaragua sought to use the talks to negotiate a bilateral >
settlement with the United States in lieu of a Contadora
agreement. In January 1985 the United States declined to
schedule further discussions pending demonstration that

Nicaragua was prepared to negotiate seriously within the
Contadora framework.**

U.S. Support for National Reconciliation in Nicaragua

National reconciliation through dialogue in countries with
armed insurgencies is a fundamental principle of the Contadora
process. 1t was explicitly accepted by all five Central
American states, Nicaragua included, in the September 1983
Document of Objectives. Although they signed the Document of
Objectives, the Sandinistas have consistently rejected dialogue
with the Nicaraguan democratic resistance.*** The Sandinistas
seek instead to portray the crisis in Central America as
deriving from United States hostility toward the Nicaraguan
revolution, We believe that the Sandinistas' refusal to deal
directly with their own people and with the legitimate concerns
of their neighbors constitutes a major roadblock to peace in
Central America.

* The President stated U.S. support again in a July 23, 1983
letter to the Presidents of Mexico, Panama, Colombia, and
venezuela -- the four Contadora Group countries.

#* See "Revolution Beyond Our Borders," pages 29-30.

*** The following statement by Tomas Borge, quoted in Daily
Barricada, June 27, 1985, is characteristic: 'We_wlll .
negotiate with the Contras on the day the right wing parties
and COSEP count all the grains of sand in the sea and all the
fhagsSait gasiﬁky. Wwhen they finish we will -ask them to count
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Both the internal and external opposition have proposed
dialogue. On February 22 the internal opposition set forth
the conditions under which a national dialogue could be
successfully conducted. These included the lifting of the
state of emergency*; freedom of expression; a general amnesty

. and pardon for political crimes; restoration of constitutional

. guarantees and the right of habeas corpus; guarantees of the
safety of members of the resistance movement who participate

in the dialogue; and the implementation of these measures under
the supervision of guarantor governments.

On March 1 the externally-based opposition (including
representatives of the FDN, the Miskito group MISURA, ARDE,
..and prominent democratic civilian leaders such as Arturo Cruz)
‘~proposed a national dialogue to be mediated by the Nicaraguan
Catholic Church. It included a mutual in situ cease-fire and
acceptance of Daniel Ortega as President until such time'as the
Nicaraguan people decided on the matter through a plebiscite,
On March 22, the Nicaraguan Catholic Church hierarchy
(Episcopal Conference) issued a communique reiterating its

support for a national dialogue and declaring its willlngness
to act as a mediator.

President Reagan on April 4 undertook an initiative to
support these possibilities., A key feature was the offer
to refrain from providing military assistance to the democratic

"+ resistance if the Sandinistas accepted the March 1l.offer.

Although the Sandinistas rejected (and continue to reject)
dialogue with the democratic resistance, the President's
initiative did serve to focus attention on this fundamental
issue.**

In the context of Congressional consideration of the
Administration's request for humanitarian assistance for the
Nicaraguan democratic resistance, the President in a June 1l
letter to Representatives Robert Michel (R-Ill.), Dave McCurdy
(D-0Ok.), and Joseph McDade (R-Pa.) stated that:

%

* pirst imposed in March, 1982; additional civil liberties were

'~ suspended October 15, 1985.

** The President's April 4 initiative is described in: (1)
"president Reagan Supports Nicaraguan Peace Process,” United
States Department of State Current Policy No. 682, April 4,
1985; (2) "U.S. Support for the Democratic Resistance Movement
in Nicaragua,' April 10, 1985: Unclassified Excerpts from the
President's Report to the Congress Pursuant to Section 8066 of
the Continuing Resolution for FY-1985, PL 98-473; (3) "The New
opportunity for Peace in Nicaragua;" April 17, 1985: Prepared
Statement by Assistant Secretary of State Langhorne A. Motley,

t tt J rn Hemis r ffairs of t
ﬁgsggeC0%%1 %8§°§91Fo?8188 ??alrs- n3 ?9? $rhs ﬁlcaraguan
Peace Process: A Documentary Record-- Department of State

Special Report 125, April 1985.
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I recognize the importance that you and others
attach to bilateral talks between the United States
and Nicaragua., It is possible that in the proper !
circumstances, such discussions could help promote
the internal reconciliation called for by Contadora
and endorsed by many Latin American leaders. Therefore
I intend to instruct our special Ambassador to consult
with the governments of Central America, the contadora
countries, other democratic governments, and the United
Nicaraguan Opposition as to how and when the U.S. would
resume direct bilateral talks with Nicaragua. However,
such talks cannot be a substitute for a church-mediated
dialogue between the contending factions and the
achievement of a workable Contadora agreement,
"Therefore, I will have our representatives meet again with
representatives of Nicaragua only when I determine that
such a meeting would be helpful in promoting these ends.

Ambassador Shlaudeman conducted such consultations with
the governments of Central America and the Contadora Group in
visits to the region in late June and early July, and in early
September with the governments of the Contadora Support Group
(Argentina, Brazil, Peru, and Uruguay). The Contadora Group
and Support Group governments generally favored resumption and
the Contadora Group publicly called on the United States to do
SO on July 22. cCosta Rica, Honduras and El Salvador did not
favor such a course (Guatemala did not express a strong view
one way or the other). These Central American countries argued
that the Manzanillo talks had distracted from and undermined
the primacy of Contadora talks where they are the negotiators;
that U.S.-Nicaraguan bilateral talks legitimized Sandinista
efforts to portray the Central American crisis as a
U.S.-Nicaraguan conflict amenable to full resolution through
arrangements between those two countries; and that it would be
particularly inappropriate for the United States to resume such
talks in the aftermath .-of Nicaragua's disruption of Contadora
negotiations in June.* Ambassador Shlaudeman also discussed
the question with the leadership of the United Nicaraguan N
Opposition, which opposed resumption in the absence of the
sandinistas undertaking a serious dialogue with UNO. The
subject was also regularly discussea in meetings with other
interested governments during this same period,

on July 26, 1985, in Mexico City, Secretary Shultz
explained the U.S. attitude toward national reconciliation
and a resumption of bilateral talks with the Sandinistas as
follows:

* See discussion of June Contadora meeting below.



-6 -

Nicaragua's purpose [in the Manzanillo talks], as now,
was to negotiate bilateral accords dealing on a priority
basis only with its security concerns. The Nicaraguan
communists refused then, as they refuse now, even to
consider dialogue with the Nicaraguan democratic
resistance. These conflicting purposes were never
reconciled and hindered progress from the start.

The United States ultimately concluded that the
talks were detracting from instead of contributing to a
comprehensive Contadora settlement, In deciding in January -
of this year not to schedule further meetings wc made it
clear that we were not closing the door to their possible
resumption under appropriate conditions. On June 11 the
President made public his readiness to have United States
‘representatives meet with representatives of Nicaragua when

- such a meeting would promote a church-mediated dialogue
‘between the contending factions in Nicaragua and a workable
Contadora agreement...,

We will continue to consult closely with all parties
with a view to judging the appropriateness of a resumption
of bilateral talks. We strongly urge Nicaragua to begin
a church-mediated dialogue as proposed by the United

.~ Nicaraguan Opposition and to return to multilateral
negotiations within the Contadora Process to contjinue
work on a comprehensive and verifiable regional accord."

The Contadora Process in 1985

As 1984 came to a close, two draft agreements were under
consideration within the Contadora process: a September 1984
revision of a June 1984 draft; and an October 1984 draft (the
"Tegucigalpa®" draft) that defined the position of Costa Rica,
Hohduras, and E1l Salvador. Following a period of private
coisultations among the participating governments, the
Contadora Group scheduled a resumption of negotiations for
mid-February. Nicaragua's refusal to respect the right of
asylum, however, created a dispute with Costa Rica that
prevented the February meeting from taking place, The dispute
was resolved in March 1985 through Contadora Group mediation,
and negotiations among Central American plenipotentiaries
resumed in April,.

The April 11-12 meeting resulted in agreement in principle
on revised verification procedures. All five Central American
governnments reserved the right, however, to propose
modifications. A second meeting, May 16-18, was devoted
primarily to discussion of approaches suggested by the
contadora Group for resolving outstanding security issues,

The May meeting focused in particular on those elements of the
October 1984 "Tegucigalpa®" proposals of Honduras, Costa Rica,
and El1 Salvador that the Ccntadora Group judged could be
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incorporated into the September 7 draft without difficulty,
There reportedly was consensual acceptance of some cof these

non-controversial suggestions, particularly in the preambular
section of the working draft,

At the conclusion of the May meeting, the Contadora Group
governments circulated a proposal to resolve the more difficult
security issues for consideration at the next meeting, in
June, When the June meeting convened, the Nicaraguan delegate
insisted that Contadora discuss renewed U.S. support for the
Nicaragquan democratic resistance and refused to discuss the
Ccontadora compromise propesal. cContadora Group efforts to
have the Nicaraguan delegation reconsider were unsuccessful.

In this situation, the June meeting was adjourned.

Nicaragua's disruption of the June meeting caused a
suspension in the plenipotentiaries' negotiations that was
to last four months. 1In July, the Contadora Group foreign
ministers met in Panama to consider how the damage could be
repaired. In a July 22 communique the Contadora Group Foreign
Ministers announced their intention to consult bilaterally with

each of the Central American governments in lieu of resuming
talks.,

The foreign ministers also called on Nicaragua and the
United States to resume bilateral talks and on Costa Rica and
Nicaragua to initiate a bilateral dialogue on a continuing
series of Sandinista Army incursions into Costa Rican
territory. - After protesting innumerable such incidents in
bilateral channels in vain, Costa Rica was prompted by a May 3l
incident in which two Costa Rican Civil Guardsmen were killed
on Costa Rican soil to seek an OAS investigation and
condemnation of Nicaragua. The investigation established the
facts, which pointed to Sandinista Army responsibility for the
deaths. The OAS report refrained from stating that conclusion
explicitly, however, and the OAS resolution deplored the
incident instead of condemning Nicaragua and endorsed
Nicaraguan and Costa Rican bilateral border talks within the
contadora framework. Costa Rica, which has relied on the
Inter-aAmerican System for its national security, felt let down
by the lack of forceful action and has been unwilling to hold
the talks unless the Sandinistas satisfactorily explain the
incident. Further incidents -- in which Sandinista planes
dropped bombs and fired a rocket into Costa Rican rerritory
-- took place on July 26 and August 2l.

Three of the Central American governments -- Costa 319a,
Honduras, and El salvador -- on August 1 welcomed the visit of
contadora Group vice ministers and jointly proposed that the
negotiations among plenipotentiaries should be reconvened as
a prior step to developing a third draft. They proposed thgt
the talks be strengthened by meeting in more prolonged sessions
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that would give the meetings a "permanent character.® .
Following consultations August 3-8 between the Contadora Group
vice ministers, Costa Rica, Honduras, and El Salvador formally
reiterated this proposal September 4. The three governments
also stated their view that the key remaining issues to be
resolved were national reconciliation, arms and troop level
reductions, and verification.

. Nicaragua's disruption of the June meeting and the
suspension of plenipotentiaries' talks produced generalized
concern that the Contadora process was in difficulty. Special
Envoy Shlaudeman consulted with the Contadora Group and
democratic Central American governments following the aborted
meeting in June to urge that the meetings of plenipotentiaries
be reconvened. Ambassador Shlaudeman also expressed the U.S.
view that any procedural or substantive inducement to Nicaragua
to return to the process would invite further disruption and
counseled patience., Ambassador Shlaudeman was asked by one
Contadora Group government if the United States would, at an
appropriate opportunity, publicly reaffirm its support for the
contadora process. The Secretary of State Shultz did so on
July 26, in Mexico City:

The United States fully supports efforts to achieve
a political solution to the Central American crisis. We

- have given strong support to the efforts of the Central
Americans themselves, assisted by the Contadora Group,

. to achieve a negotiated settlement., 1In our view, there
exists in the Contadora Document of Objectives a fair,
comprehensive and balanced framework for such an outcome.
We expressed our support for a comprehensive and verifiable
implementation of the Document of Objectives when it was
.agreed in September 1983. We reaffirm that support today.

The suspension of talks prompted expressions of support
for Contadora from other governments as well. Following
consultations with the Contadora Group governments, the
governments of Argentina, Brazil, Peru, and Uruguay on July 28
formed a "Contadora Support Group." The foreign ministers of
these governments met with the Contadora Group foreign
ministers in cartagena, Colombia August 23-25 to consult on
how that support could be provided most effectively. A joint
communique issued by the eight governments stated that there
would be regular consultations among the governments in support
of the negotiating process but did not, by mutual agreement,
contemplate the direct participation of the Support Group
governments in Contadora deliberations,

Ambassador Shlaudeman visited Buenos Aires, Montevideo,
Brasilia, and Lima, the four Support Group capitals,
September 10-13 to convey U.S. support for Support Group
activities. The Department of State had made an official
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statement on August 26 welcoming formation of the Support
Group, following the meeting in Cartagena. 1In his discussions,
Ambassador Shlaudeman suggested it would be useful for the
Support Group to consult directly with ‘all the Central American
governments; to urge the sandinistas to accept the proposal

of the United Nicaraguan Opposition for a church-mediated
dialogue; and to meet directly with UNO leaders to form
first-hand judgments as to their purposes and programs. He
also briefed the Support Group governments on the Manzanillo
talks and outlined United States views on the requirements for
an effective and lasting peace in the region.

Costa Rica, Honduras, and El salvador jointly requested a
meeting with the Support Group governments during a September
12-13 meeting of Contadora process foreign ministers in
Panama. The Support Group foreign ministers declined the
request, however, out of concern that such a meeting not
interfere with the Contadora process itself,

The four Contadora Group foreign ministers presented the
five Central American foreign ministers a third draft of a
Contadora agreement at a meeting in Panama September 12-13.
The nine ministers agreed to convene negotiations on October 7,
1985 with the aim of reaching final agreement in a period not
to exceed 45 days.* It was also agreed that discussion would
be devoted exclusively to the timing of entry into effect and
duration of commitments; control and reduction of armaments;
verification in security and political matters; military
exercises; and operational matters that must be addressed in
order to implement an agreement., It was further agreed that
incidents or developments in the region would not be discussed
in the meetings or condition the participation of any
delegations. The Contadora Group ministers stressed that
the Central American states have exclusive responsibility
for reaching agreement.

The first round of talks were held October 7-11, 1985
on Contadora Island, off the coast of Panama. A second round
of talks was held October 17-19**, A third round is currently
scheduled for November 6-9. While various delegates have
characterized the talks in comments to reporters, the
participating governments have refrained from issuing
any joint statements or communigues.

* It has been suggested by some Contadora Group government
officials that this refers to negotiating, not calendar, days.

i d
** geveral delegations noted the presence qn.COntadora Islap
during the talks of German Sanchez, an official of the Americas
Department of the Cuban Communist Party.
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U.S. Diplomatic Contacts with Nicaragua

The United States has continued, since declining to
schedule further meetings in the Manzanillo talks, to have
diplomatic contacts with Nicaraguan government officials,
in Managua, Washington and other capitals. Secretary Shultz, °
for example, met with Nicaragua President Ortega March 2 in
Montevideo, during the inauguration of President Sanguinetti,
Vice President Bush spoke with President Ortega during the
inauguration of President Sarney of Brazil March 16. There
have been a number of contacts between Ambassador Bergold and
Sandinista Government officials, as well as contacts at a lower
level. 1In Washington, there have been meetings between -
Nicaraguan Ambassador Tunnermann and National Security
council officials and with Assistant Secretary of State
for Inter-American Affairs Elliott Abrams,

The United States sought a meeting for Ambassador
Shlaudeman with a high-level Nicaragudan official on the
margins of the United Nations General Assembly this fall.
The Nicaraguan Government initially accepted a meeting between
Ambassador Shlaudeman and Assistant Secretary Abrams and
Foreign Minister D'Escoto, The Nicaraguan Government then
proposed, however, to send a lower ranking official to the
proposed meeting. Ultimately, Nicaragua accepted the U.S.
suggestion that Ambassadors Shlaudeman and Tunnermann meet
in Washington. The two ambassadors met on October 29 and
October 31, 1985.

In the October 29 meeting Ambassador Silaudeman informed
Ambassador Tunnermann that the United States would be prepared
to resume bilateral talks if the Sandinistas were to accept
the March proposal of the United Nicaraguan Opposition for a
church-mediated dialogue and cease-fire. Anbassaaor Shlaudeman
said that progress in this dialogue would make it possible to
resolve U.S.-Sandinista bilateral problems. Ambassador
Tunnermann responded on October 31 that the Government of
Nicaragua rejects dialogue with the democratic resistance,

The President's Initiative on Regional Conflicts and the
U.S.-Soviet Experts' Talks

On October 24, in his address to the United Nations General
Assemby, President Reagan presented an initiative on regional
conflicts that is intended, in part, to support the Contadora
process and an end to the conflict in Nicaragua.

President Reagan's initiative aims at achieving peace and
internal reconciliation, ending foreign military involvement,
and fostering economic reconstruction in five of the most
pressing international conflicts: Afghanistan, Cambodia,
Angola, Ethiopia and Nicaragua.
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Heretofore, the only regqularly received allegations of
resistance violations have come from Sandinista sources, These
allegations have been biased, grossly exaggerated and often
false. This conclusion is supported by residents in
communities where atrocities allegedly have been committed
and by the testimony of Sandinista defectors who were directly
involved in implementing official policy. A key element in the
Ssandinista campaign has been the fabrication of charges of
human rights abuses and, in some cases, attribution to the
resistance of atrocities actually committed by Sandinista
forces. The following cases illustrate these tactics:

-- In April 1985 U.S. Embassy personnel in Honduras,
seeking information concerning resistance abuses, '
interviewed a number of Nicaraguan refugees. One woman
related that a Cuban operating with Sandinista troops had
executed seven farmers in her home village in December
1983 after an attack by the resistance. The farmers were
considered resistance sympathizers by the authorities,
The murders were publicly attributed by the authorities
to the resistance. The true facts were later circulated
by residents who had witnessed the killings.

-- In a complaint filed through his mother in the
summer of 1985 with the independent Permanent Commission
on Human Rights, a Sandinista soldier stated that he had
been severely pressured by military authorities to issue
statements claiming he had been abused while held captive
by the resistance. He said that although he had been
exposed to resistance political views, he had been well
treated and given medical assistance. He was asked if he
wanted to join the resistance, but when he refused was
escorted some distance from the camp and released. The
soldier refused to make the statements sought by the
authorities. He was.then beaten badly and turned over
to State Security. The soldier stated that he had been
warned that he would be heid in jail until he cooperated
with the authorities in their disinformation campaign.

-- A Sandinista Army deserter, now fighting with the
resistance, said he decided to go over to the other side
when his unit carried out orders to execute two campesinos
specifically for the purpose of blaming yet another
atrocity on the "contras."

-— According to those on the scene, a government
press story that FSLN and neighborhood defense committee
members had been brutally murdered in an August 1, 1985
"contra®" attack on Cuapa was false. Witnesses said the
encounter was a military-to-military engagement which left
a number of sandinista soldiers dead; there were no
civilian casualties., Following the fight, the resistance










































“Revolution Beyond Our Borders”
Sandinista Intervention in Central America

CONTENTS Page
I. What the Controversy Is About .................. ..., 1
II. The Praxis of Intervention ...................oiuis. 3
A ElSalvador ..ot i 5
B. Honduras ........cooiiiiiiiineniiiininniinennnnn, 13
C.Costa Rica ...vvvvriiiiiiii i iiiiiiaineneaaann, 16
ITI. The Collective Response ............cccoiiiiiiiiiiiin, 19
IV. Conelusion .........c.unniiiiiiiiiiiii it 31
APPENDICES
1 GloSSary ..ovvviiiiii e 35
2. Chronology ...ttt iiiiaiiiaaineenn. 37
3. Former Guerrillas ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i, 41
4. Nicaraguans in Exile ...............o oo, 43
-5. Rifles From Vietnam ..............cooiiiiiiiiiiinann. 46
6. FMLN Evaluation of the 1981 Offensive ................ 47
T, SOUTCES «evvveeteereereeniieeiieeneeeeeesnanannnnnnns 49
ILLUSTRATIONS
Map of Central America: Major Locations -
Mentioned in Text .........c it ii
Photograph of Papalonal Airstrip in Nicaragua .............. 8

Map of Central America and the Caribbean ................. 33



















































. Costa Rica

Costa Rican support was essential to
the success of the struggle against
Somoza. In November 1978, the Costa
Rican Government severed diplomatic
relations with the Somoza regime and
over the next 8 months allowed Costa
Rican territory to be used as a conduit
for arms and supplies to the anti-Somoza
war effort on its northern border

In the process of aiding the insur-
rection, however, Costa Rica’s stable
democracy unwittingly opened the door
to future troubles directly related to the
Sandinistas. The Sandinistas’ disdain for
what Defense Minister Humberto
Ortega referred to as a “bourgeois
democracy in the hands of the rich,”
soon made itself apparent.! Costa Rican
territory was used to transfer weapons
to the Salvadoran rebels, and groups in-
side Costa Rica were armed and given
military training. Terrorism became a
persistent problem from 1981 on, and
Nicaraguan opponents of the Sandinistas
became targets of assassination at-
tempts. Tensions with Nicaragua in-
creased in general with the growth of
internal opposition to the Sandinistas
and recurring border incidents.

Early Ties to the Sandinistas

Costa Rica has long accepted the
democratic participation of socialist and
Marxist parties in its political life.2 With

the advent of the Sandinista regime in
Managua in July 1979, however, the tac-
tical allegiance to democracy of some of
the radical groups in Costa Rica began
to shift. A peaceful political process
could no longer be taken for granted.
The orthodox Communist Party in
Costa Riea, then called the Popular
Vanguard Party (PVP) and led by
Manuel Mora Valverde, contributed
cadres to Sandinista units to fight
against Somoza and to accelerate the

In 40 years of Somocismo, we

never had the threat that we

have in % years of Sandinismo.
Luis Alberto Monge,

President of Costa Rica
December 19833

PVP’s military preparedness in the
event conflict broke out later in Costa
Rica.4 By early 1979, the PVP had
several hundred combatants in
Nicaragua.

The PVP maintained its force in
Nicaragua after the Sandinistas came to
power. Major elements of it remain
there today and provide permanent
training for paramilitary cadres who
return to Costa Rica. The unit did not
act in isolation. From the start, it main-
tained close contact with the Sandinista

army and over the years became an in-
tegral part of Sandinista defenses along
the border with Costa Rica. The
Nicaraguan Government supplies the
unit with training, uniforms, arms, and
food, and in return, the unit carries out
military actions against Nicaraguan
resistance forees operating along the
Nicaragua-Costa Rica border.

Arming for the Revolution

While Panama and Venezuela were pro-
viding aid to the anti-Somoza opposition
through Costa Rica in 1979, Cuba—with
the aid of corrupt Costa Rican officials—
established its own clandestine arms
supply network for the Sandinistas. This
network was later used to supply the
Salvadoran insurgency and internal
Costa Rican leftist groups.

The circumstances surrounding these
shipments were established by a special
commission created in June 1980 by the
Costa Rican legislature to investigate
charges then circulating that after the
Nicaraguan civil war, a black market
had developed in connection with war
materiel left behind in Costa Rica.? Dur-
ing the course of its investigation, the
commission discovered the shipments
from Cuba. Then-President Rodrigo
Carazo of Costa Rica first denied that
the flights had occurred when ques-
tioned by the commission on November
4, 1980, but later admitted them. On
March 25, 1981, five Costa Rican pilots
publicly admitted their participation in

tHumberto Ortega, Secret Speech,
repreduced in La Nacion, San Jose, October
10, 1981. Among other things, he observed
that “the Costa Rieans . .. very intelligently
have maintained [but softened] the exploita-
tion of man by man ... [Tlhat is the kind of
democracy [our opposition] wants . . . that we
the Sandinistas be like the left in Costa
Riea—a group which mobilizes politically and
puts out its own newspaper but where the
bourgeoisie controls power.”

2The Costa Riean Marxist left is made up
of several parties, foremost of which is the
Costa Rican People’s Party headed by Mora
Valverde. Until 1984 his party was known as
the Popular Vanguard Party (PVP). In 1948
military eadres of the PVP supported the un-
successful efforts by the incumbent govern-
ment to thwart the outcome of democratic
elections (see Ralph L. Woodward, Central

16

America: A Nation Divided, New York,
1976, pp. 223-224). For the 1978 and 1982
elections, the radical parties formed coalitions
in an effort to expand their representation at
the national level. They received 7.3% of the
vote in 1978 and less than 4% in 1982 (see
Harold D. Nelson, ed., Costa Rica: A Coun-
try Study, Washington, 1984, pp, 216-218).

3Georgie Anne Geyer, “Taking the San-
dinistas at Their Word,” Wall Street Jour-
nal, August 23, 1985, p. 15.

“Many scattered reports confirm the
brigade’s presence in Nicaragua. In 1982 a
newspaper article referred to 700 Costa
Rican leftists training in Niearagua (Lg
Republica, Panama City, February 7, 1982,
as reported in FBIS, February 9, 1982). A
former Niearaguan official, who defected in
July 1985, recently gave details on a group of
PVP militants being trained in Nicaragua
during 1983. One of the Hondurans captured
in connection with the infiltration of El
Paraiso in July 1984 spoke of training with a
PVP cadre in the “internationalist” brigade

in 1983. In March 1985, La Republica in San
Jose ran a story of 100 Costa Ricans training
in Cuba and Nicaragua and quoted Security
Minister Benjamin Piza as saying “we have
always heard of the possibility that there are
groups harboring such a line of operation, We
will do everything possible to neutralize
them” (see La Republica, San Jose, March
14, 1985, as reported by FBIS, March 25,
1985). In May 1985, La Nacton in San Jose
quoted MRP leader Sergio Erik Ardon that
“there are presently Costa Ricans fighting at
the side of the Sandinista forces, just as
there are in the counterrevolutionary
SReport on arms trafficking issued by a
special Costa Rican legislative commission on
May 14, 1981. The report is the basis for the
following comments (La Nacion, May 15,
1981, as reported by FBIS, June 2, 1981).
Also see “Arms Scandal is Charged in Costa
Rica,” New York Times, May 21, 1981,






















































APPENDICES

1. Glossary

Ahuas Tara: The “Big Pine” series
of joint U.S.-Honduran military exer-
cises begun in February 1983.

America Department: A section of
the Central Committee of the Cuban
Communist Party which handles rela-
tions with leftist organizations
throughout the Western Hemisphere.

ARDE: Democratic Revolutionary
Alliance, Alianza Revolucionaria
Democratica, a coalition of anti-FSLN
organizations founded in 1982.

Cinchoneros: See URP.

Contadora Group: Colombia,
Mexico, Panama, and Venezuela met in
January 1983 on the Panamanian island
of Contadora and formed the Contadora
Group for the purpose of facilitating a
peaceful settlement to the Central
American erisis.

Contadora Document of Objec-
tives: Adopted September 9, 1983.
Document agreed to by all nine Con-
tadora participants (the Contadora
Group and the five Central American
countries). Sets forth 21 objectives to
resolve the Central American crisis. Has
served as the basis of discussion in all
subsequent negotiations.

Coordinadora: Nicaraguan
Democratic Coordinating Board, Coor-
dinadora Democratica Nicaraguense, a
coalition of political parties, labor con-
federations, and private sector organiza-
tions opposed to FSLN policies.

Declaration of San Jose: Adopted
October 4, 1982, by seven democratic
governments including the United
States. Sets forth the conditions neces-
sary for a regional peace settlement.

DGSE: The General Directorate of
State Security, Direccion General de
Sequridad del Estado, of the
Nicaraguan Ministry of Interior.

DRI: The FSLN’s Department of
International Relations, Departamento
de Relaciones Internacionales, closely
modeled after the America Department
of the Cuban Communist Party.

DRU: The Unified Revolutionary
Directorate, Direccion Revolucionaria
Unificada, was the coalition of
Salvadoran guerrilla groups formed in
May 1980 in Havana. It preceded the
FMLN.

EGP: The Guerrilla Army of the
Poor, Ejercito Guerrillero de los Pobres,
a Guatemalan guerrilla group, became a
member of the URNG, the umbrella
organization formed in Managua on
November 2, 1980.

ERP: The People’s Revolutionary
Army, Ejercito Revolucionario del
Pueblo, a Salvadoran revolutionary
group, formed after a split within the
FPL in 1972. 1t is led by Joaquin
Villalobos.

FAL: The Armed Forces of Libera-
tion, Fuerzas Armadas de Liberacion,
the Salvadoran Communist Party’s guer-
rilla wing formed by Jorge Shafik Han-
dal in 1979.

FAO: The Broad Opposition Front,
Frente Amplio Opositor, formed in
mid-1978 by an alliance of 16 non-FSLN
organizations including opposition
political parties and labor confedera-
tions. In August 1978 FAO presented a
16-point plan for the democratization of
Nicaragua—including the departure of
Somoza.

FAR: The Rebel Armed Forces,
Fuerzas Armadas Rebeldes, is a
Guatemalan guerrilla organization and a
member of the URNG.

FARN: Armed Forces of National
Resistance, Fuerzas Armadas de
Resistencia Nacional, Salvadoran
revolutionary group that splintered from
the ERP in 1975.

FDN: Nicaraguan Democratic
Force, Fuerza Democratica
Nicaraguense, the largest of the anti-
FSLN resistance groups, founded in
1982.

FDR: The Democratic Revolu-
tionary Front, Frente Democratico
Revolucionario, is the political wing of
the FMLN. It was created on April 1,
1980, by three small Salvadoran political
parties and urban organizations to serve
as the civilian arm of the guerrillas.

FMLH: The Morazanist Front for
the Liberation of Honduras, Frente
Morazanista para la Liberacion de Hon-
duras, is a Honduran guerrilla
organization.

FMLN: The Farabundo Marti Na-
tional Liberation Front, Frente
Farabundo Marti para la Liberacion
Nacional, is an umbrella organization
formed in November 1980. Consists of
five Salvadoran guerrilla groups—ERP,
FAL, FARN, FPL, and PRTC.

FMLN-FDR: FMLN and the
FDR—the Salvadoran guerrilla umbrella
organization and its political front.

FPL: Popular Liberation Forces,
Fuerzas Populares de Liberacion, the
largest of the original Salvadoran guer-
rilla organizations that formed the
FMLN. The FPL, founded in 1970 by
Cayetano Carpio after he left the Com-
munist Party of El Salvador, has long
been linked to Cuba. The leadership was
taken over by Leonel Gonzales upon
Carpio’s death.

FPR: The Popular Revolutionary
Forces, Fuerzas Populares Revolu-
cionarias, is a Honduran guerrilla
organization.

FSLN: The Sandinista National
Liberation Front, Frente Sandinista de
Liberacion Nacional, is a politico-
military organization founded in 1961.
After playing the key military role in
the overthrow of Somoza, the FSLN
displaced other members of the anti-
Somoza coalition and monopolized
power.

GRN: Government of National
Reconstruction, Gobierno de Reconstruc-
cion Nacional, the official designation of
the Government of Nicaragua from July
1979 until January 1985, when Daniel
Ortega formally became president.

Manzanillo: Mexican coastal city
where bilateral talks between the
United States and Nicaragua were held
in 1984.

National Directorate: The nine-
member directorate of the FSLN,
formed in March 1979, with three
representatives from each of the three
main factions within the FSLN: Pro-
longed Popular War (Guerra Popular
Prolongada—GPP) is represented by
Tomas Borge, Henry Ruiz, and Bayardo
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2. Chronology

January 1978

10 Pedro Joaquin Chamorro
assassinated in Managua.

August 1978

21  The non-FSLN Broad Opposition
Front (FAQ), calling for Somoza’s
departure, presents a 16-point plan
for democratization of Nicaragua.

22 Eden Pastora, known as Com-
mander Zero, leads successful
FSLN raid on the National Palace
in Managua.

September 1978 .

23 17th Meeting of Consultation of
Foreign Ministers of the Organiza-
tion of American States (OAS) con-
siders the situation in Nicaragua.

October 1978

6 Under the auspices of the OAS,
the United States, Guatemala, and
the Dominican Republic begin a
3-month-long attempt to help
reconcile the differences in
Nicaragua.

January 1979

17 OAS mediation effort ends without
resolving the Nicaraguan conflict.

February 1979

8 United States formally terminates
military aid to Nicaragua (already
suspended for several months),
suspends new economic aid, with-
draws military assistance group
and Peace Corps volunteers, and
reduces size of embassy staff by
one-half.

June 1979

16  DProvisional Junta of the Govern-
ment of National Reconstruction
(GRN) formed in Costa Rica to
replace the Somoza regime in
Nicaragua.

21 At U.S. request, the 17th Meeting
of Consultation of Foreign
Ministers of the OAS reconvenes
to consider situation in Nicaragua.

23  OAS approves a Venezuelan
resolution calling for the immedi-
ate replacement of the Somoza
regime by a democratic
government.

July 1979

12 GRN Junta sends telex enclosing
its program and promising free
elections to the Secretary General
of the OAS.

17 Somoza resigns and interim
government announced.

19  Collapse of interim government as
FSLN military forces arrive in
Managua and GRN assumes
power.

21  Salvadoran guerrilla leaders and
Sandinista leaders meet in
Managua to discuss FSLN support
for Salvadoran insurgent
organizations.

sk Cuban civilian and military
advisers arrive in Managua.

27  United States announces airlift of
food and medical supplies.

September 1979

21- FSLN party meeting approves
23 ““I2-hour Document”’ committing
Sandinistas to revolutionary

internationalism.

21 Nicaraguan Government delega-
tion headed by Daniel Ortega
received at White House by Presi-
dent Carter, who offers substantial
aid and cautions against inter-
ference in neighboring states.

October 1979

15  General Romero is overthrown in
E] Salvador by military coup
promising extensive political,
social, and economic reforms.

November 1979

9 President Carter asks Congress to
provide an emergency $75 million
“to restore confidence, private ini-
tiative, and popular well-being in
Nicaragua.”

December 1979

16  Leaders of three Salvadoran
organizations write to Fidel Castro
that “thanks to your help” they
have signed in Havana a unity
pact to “advance the fight” for
peace and socialism.

Marech 1980

3 Junta member Alfonso Robelo
informs United States of GRN
policy of noninvolvement in
Salvadoran internal polities but
warns that a ‘“few individuals”
may be fighting with the
Salvadoran guerrillas.

6 Agrarian reform begins in El
Salvador.

19  Agreement signed in Moscow
establishing party-to-party ties
between FSLN and the Com-
munist Party of the Soviet Union.

%k  Cuba makes large-scale weapons
deliveries to Managua, including
antiaircraft and antitank guns and
artillery.

April 1980

16  Council of State is expanded to en-
sure FSLN control.

19 Violeta de Chamorro resigns from
GRN.

22 Alfonso Robelo resigns from GRN.

May 1980

sk Four Salvadoran guerrilla factions
meet under Cuban sponsorship in
Havana, form Unified Revolu-
tionary Directorate (DRU).

31  President Carter signs legislation
providing $75 million in assistance
to Nicaragua, requiring certifica-
tion that Nicaragua is not support-
ing terrorism.

June 1980

sk FSLN Directorate offers DRU
headquarters in Managua, along
with advice, materiel, and a prom-
ise to assume ‘“‘the cause of El
Salvador as its own.”

sk Salvadoran Communist Party
leader Jorge Shafilk Handal leaves
Cuba for the Soviet Union and
Vietnam seeking arms.

23  FSLN Directorate member Bay-
ardo Arce meets with delegation
of Salvadoran guerrillas; agrees to
provide ammunition, training, and
other support.

*Specific day not applicable or not known.
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June 1983

6 Nicaragua expels three U.S.
diplomats on false charge of plot-
ting to assassinate the Nicaraguan
Foreign Minister; U.S. responds
by closing all Nicaraguan con-
sulates outside Washington, D.C.

29 RMTC begins training of Hon-
duran and Salvadoran military
personnel in Puerto Castilla,
Honduras.

July 1983

17 Declaration of Cancun of the
presidents of the Contadora Group
calls for renewed efforts to con-
tinue peace process. Declaration
sent to President Reagan, Central
American chiefs of state, and Fidel
Castro.

19  Sandinistas announce six-point
peace plan, including acceptance of
multilateral talks.

21  Costa Riea, El Salvador,
Guatemala, and Honduras propose
peace plan drawing on Honduran
plan of March 1982 and emphasiz-
ing relevance of democratization to
peace and stability of region.

22 U.S. begins increased naval
presence off the Pacific and Carib-
bean coasts of Central America.

23 President Reagan supports Con-
tadora principles in letter to Con-
tadora Group presidents.

%k  Honduran PRTC guerrilla force
trained in Nicaragua and Cuba
infiltrates into the eastern Hon-
duran Department of Olancho.

September 1983

9 Contadora Document of Objectives
approved by the five Central
American states. It sets goals for
regional negotiations, including
democratic pluralism, national
reconciliation, cessation of support
to paramilitary forces, arms con-
trol, withdrawal of foreign
advisers, and verification.

October 1983

20  Nicaragua proposes four treaties
to implement its July six-point
plan, but proposals do not address
Contadora objectives of democratic
national reconciliation, reductions
in arms, and foreign advisers,

25  United States and Caribbean
nations land military forces on
Grenada.

December 1983

24  Nicaraguan opposition Coor-
dinadora issues communique call-
ing for dialogue leading to open
elections.

January 1984

10  National Bipartisan Commission
on Central America reports to
President.

March 1984

25  First round of presidential elec-
tions held in El Salvador.

April 1984

9 Nicaragua files complaint against
United States in the International
Court of Justice.

22 Easter pastoral letter of the
Nicaraguan bishops calls for
dialogue, including with the armed
resistance.

May 1984

6 Jose Napoleon Duarte elected
President of El Salvador in runoff
election.

June 1984

1 U.S. Secretary of State Shultz
visits Managua to launch bilateral
talks in support of reaching a com-
prehensive Contadora agreement.

8-  Contadora Group submits first

9 draft Contadora agreement to
Central American governments for
comment by July.

25  First of nine rounds of bilateral
talks between the United States
and Nicaragua held at Manzanillo,
Mexico.

July 1984

sk A 19-member vanguard unit of the
Honduran Popular Revolution
Force “Lorenzo Zelaya” enters
from Nicaragua in an effort to
establish a guerrilla network in
the Honduran Department of El
Paraiso.

September 1984

7 Contadora Group submits, for Cen-
tral American comment by mid-
October, revised draft Contadora
agreement.

21  Nicaragua states willingness to
sign September 7 draft on condi-
tion that it is approved without
modification.

25 6th round of Manzanillo talks.
Nicaragua adopts September 7
Contadora draft as its negotiating
position but rules out any substan-
tive modification.

September-October 1984

sk International and regional efforts
fail to induce Sandinistas to allow
open, fair competition for
November 4 elections.

October 1984

2 Danie] Ortega announces at the
United Nations that the United
States will invade Nicaragua on or
after October 15.

7 Daniel Ortega, in Los Angeles,
California, states that Nicaragua
would feel more secure if it
became a member of the Warsaw
Pact.

8 Salvadoran President Duarte at
UN General Assembly calls for
dialogue with armed opposition;
meetings between government and
FMLN take place October 15 at
La Palma and November 30 at
Ayagualo.
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3. Former Guerrillas

This appendix summarizes the careers
of individual guerrillas representing four
different groups and two officials of
Nicaragua’s General Directorate of
State Security. Each has been involved
directly with insurgency against the
Governments of El Salvador and Hon-
duras. Their histories give a human pie-
ture of the secret involvement of Nica-
ragua and its allies in supporting revolu-
tion in El Salvador and Honduras.
About half deserted; the others were
captured. Most were active into 1985.

GUERRILLAS

Salvadorans

Marco Antonio GRANDE Rivera
defected on May 25, 1985, to Salvadoran
security forces in Jucuaran, Usulutan.
Grande was a political leader and propa-
ganda officer in the “Francisco Sanchez
Southeastern Front” of the Communist
Party of El Salvador (PCES/FAL). In
1980, the party awarded Grande a
scholarship to study international rela-
tions in the Soviet Union. In September
1982, he went from the U.S.S.R. to
Cuba for 6 months of military training.
In June 1983, he and four other Salva-
dorans were given Nicaraguan docu-
ments and flown to Managua. There,
they were taken to a safehouse, which
Grande described as a way-station for
Salvadoran guerrillas en route to and
from El Salvador. Before leaving Nica-
ragua for El Salvador, Grande and
others in the house were visited by
various PCES leaders including Shafik
Handal. In late July 1983, Grande
reentered El Salvador by way of
Guatemala.

Napoleon ROMERO Garcia, alias
Commander ‘“Miguel Castellanos,” was
the third-ranking commander of the
Popular Liberation Forces (FPL) until
his defection on April 11, 1985. He was
responsible for organizing cadres and
reviewing political plans, ideological
statements, and proposals for military
and propaganda action. Since 1979, he
had been a member of the FPL Central
Committee and Chief of the FPL’s Met-
ropolitan Front (San Salvador). He par-
ticipated in meetings of the committee
each year and in its 1983 congress,
which took place in Managua. In early
October 1983, Romero traveled to

Managua, Havana, Moscow, and Viet-
nam. In Managua, he spent a week with
“Valentin,” the FPL chief in Managua.
Romero described in detail the logistical
network for supplying FMLN guerrillas.
He has characterized Nicaragua as the
FMLN'’s “strategic rear guard.”

Arquimedes CANADAS, alias Com-
mander ‘““‘Alejandro Montenegro,” was a
member of the People’s Revolutionary
Army (ERP). He was arrested in
August 1982 in Tegucigalpa while en
route to Managua. As commander of the
Guazapa Front, he twice met Joaquin
Villalobos, the ERP commander, at the
FMLN command post in Managua. He
has described the logistical system for
delivering weapons, ammunition, and
explosives from the Nicaraguan-
Honduran border area of Las Manos
across the Honduran-Salvadoran border
area of Amatillo to his headquarters at
Guazapa. He coordinated the special
commando group that attacked the
Ilopango military airbase in January
1982. In mid-September 1982, the Hon-
duran guerrillas known as “Cin-
choneros” demanded, among other
things, Canadas’ release in exchange for
three Cabinet ministers and more than
100 civilians held hostage.

Domingo BARRERA Castro,
alias “Victor,” deserted the FPL in
December 1982. He had been active in
the Popular Revolutionary Bloe and, in
January 1980, was sent from an FPL
camp in Chalatenango to Cuba for train-
ing. He secretly left El Salvador, taking
a small boat at night across the Gulf of
Fonseca to Nicaragua. From Nicaragua,
he flew to Cuba. There, he took a
6-month basic military training course in
tactics and the use of weapons and ex-
plosives. Later, he attended a 6-month
leadership course. After completing his
training, he returned to Managua and
flew to Guatemala where he took a bus
to El Salvador. In Chalatenango, he
became an instructor for the FPL and,
in December 1981, was named chief of
the FPL’s Northern Front “Apolinario
Serrano.” During 1982, Barrera became
disillusioned with the war and with the
FMLN’s treatment of the population
and deserted.

Jorge Eduardo PANIAGUA
Verganza was captured by Salvadoran
authorities on June 18, 1985. He had
been recruited into the Armed Forces of
Liberation (FAL), the armed wing of
the Communist Party of El Salvador, in
July 1982. He initially drove pickup
trucks with secret compartments
holding arms and munitions for guerrilla
units. The arms had been transported
overland from Nicaragua through Hon-
duras into El Salvador. When the Salva-
doran security forces broke up this net-
work in April 1983, Paniagua became
inactive. He resumed his work for the
FAL in July 1984, and 2 months later
was assigned to the Metropolitan Front
in San Salvador.

William Daly RAMOS Orellana,
arrested by Salvadoran authorities on
August 9, 1984, was recruited for the
FPL in 1978. In July 1982, he traveled
to Costa Rica and then to Nicaragua,
where he stayed for nearly 2 weeks
before flying to Cuba. In Cuba, he at-
tended a 3-month course in recruiting
techniques and methods for organizing
“masses.” He then returned to El
Salvador where he ‘became a recruiter
for the FPL’s “Clara Elizabeth
Ramirez” Front (CERF).

Maria Elsy QUIJADA Valle, alias
“Delmy,” was captured by the Salva-
doran National Police in September
1984. She had joined the FPL in May
1979. In September 1980, she traveled
by bus to Guatemala and then flew to
Nicaragua. After 2 weeks in Managua,
she flew to Cuba for a military training
course. In January 1981, she returned to
Nicaragua and then traveled overland
through Honduras to El Salvador.

Felicito MENJIVAR Briones, alias
“Monico,” surrendered Lo Salvadoran
authorities on January 30, 1985. He was
an activist in the Popular Revolutionary
Bloc before being recruited into the
FPL. In May 1980, he was sent from an
FPL camp in Chalatenango to Cuba. He
left El Salvador for Nicaragua on the
La Union-Potosi ferry. From Nicaragua,
he flew to Cuba for a 6-month basic
military course in weapons, explosives,
and tactics. He spent 6 months in
Nicaragua working with some 300 Salva-
dorans from all five factions of the
FMLN. In 1981, he flew from Managua
to Guatemala and traveled by bus to El
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Salvador. He became a squad leader for
an FPL platoon, serving first near
Jucuaran and later Chalatenango. Dur-
ing an operation to disrupt the March
1984 elections, he was seriously
wounded.

Ramon Aristides CHICAS Claros,
alias “Tilo,” defected on April 8, 1984,
He was recruited into the ERP in May
1981. He spent his first year growing
food for guerrilla units in Morazan. He
made five trips to Santo Domingo, Hon-
duras, to pick up supplies. In August
1982, Chicas was transferred to a guer-
rilla camp at Guarumas. The camp was
supplied with arms, munitions, and uni-
forms from Cuba by sea from Nicara-
gua. In December 1982, he became a
bodyguard for the commander of the
“Rafael Arce Zablah” Brigade (BRAZ).

Santos Enrique GARCIA Chilulo,
alias “Quique,” was an ERP member
from 1981 until his capture by Salva-
doran security forces on July 27, 1985.
He joined the ERP in August 1981
while he was living in Chinandega, Nica-
ragua. In January 1982, he was sent to
Cuba for a weapons training course,
which also was attended by several
dozen Salvadorans. In May 1982, he
returned to Nicaragua where in Septem-
ber he began 6 months’ training in com-
bat tacties at Montelimar. When not in
training overseas, Garcia lived in ERP
safehouses in Managua. According to
Garcia, ERP units in Managua include a
special forces group and a propaganda
team, which prints fliers and counterfeit
documents and recruits from among the
estimated 20,000 Salvadoran refugees
now living in Nicaragua.

Jose Juan MENJIVAR was a
member of the FPL from December
1982 until he defected in January 1985.
In 1981, he spent several months in a
refugee camp in Honduras before enter-
ing Nicaragua with false documents in
August 1981. He was arrested by San-
dinista security forces and held for 2
months as a suspected spy for the Hon-
duran Government. On his release in Oc-
tober 1981, he was sent to a refugee
camp in Leon Department where he
lived for more than a year. In December
1982, he was recruited by a Salvadoran
working for the FPL in Niearagua and
reinfiltrated into El Salvador.

Adin INGLES Alvarado, alias
“Vidal,” the second-ranking member of
the special forces of the FPL, defected
to the Salvadoran Armed Forces on
May 19, 1985. The special forces group
was formed in February 1983 as an elite
combat unit for special missions. Nica-
ragua provided explosives and other
equipment. The original 28 members
were sent to Cuba to train and to
develop operations plans. While in Cuba,
they rehearsed an attack against the
military headquarters of the 4th Brigade
at El Paraiso in Chalatenango Depart-
ment. They successfully carried out the
attack in December 1983. When Ingles
defected, 12 new recruits were in train-
ing programs abroad.

Maria Marta Concepcion VALLA-
DARES de Lemus, alias ‘“Nidia Diaz”
or “Claudia Novale,” was a guerrilla
commander of the Central American
Revolutionary Workers’ Party (PRTC).
During President Duarte’s first discus-
sion with guerrillas on October 15, 1984,
in La Palma, Diaz was one of three
FMLN commanders present. Among the
documents captured with her on April
18, 1985, were archives of the PRTC,
including correspondence between the
FMLN and the FSLN, notes of meet-
ings, and other PRTC and FMLN
documents.

Hondurans

Jorge Alberto GALVEZ, alias
“Manuel,” was captured in El Salvador
on June 28, 1985, in the course of
government efforts to solve the murder
of 13 people at a sidewalk cafe in San
Salvador on June 19, 1985. He was a
Honduran member of the Salvadoran
PRTC guerrilla organization. Galvez was
born in Tegucigalpa and graduated from
the Honduran national university in
1983. In late July 19883, he flew to
Managua where he worked with seven
other Hondurans and Nicaraguans at
the Center for Economic Studies of
Honduras. In November 1984, a Salva-
doran member of the PRTC recruited
Galvez to work inside El Salvador. In
December 1984, Galvez flew to El
Salvador’s international airport at
Comalapa and was taken to a PRTC
camp in the Cerros de San Pedro.

Hondurans involved in the El
Paraiso operation and captured be-
tween July and October 1984 by the
Honduran Armed Foreces: Arnulfo Mon-
toya Maradiaga, alias “Felipe” or
“Elias”’; Gregorio Pinto Arevalo, alias
“Guilberto Lopez Aballero” or “Jose
Maria Reconco Zuniga” or ‘“Ruben

Agapito”’; Pedro Antonio Ginon Reyes,
alias “Rolando”’; Ricardo de Jesus
Ramirez Lemus, alias ‘“Hector Caballero
Chavez” or “Mario”; and Ana Rosa
Rivera Perla, alias ‘‘Betty.” All were
members of the Popular Revolutionary
Force “Lorenzo Zelaya’ (FPR-LZ\.
Operationally, they were part of the
19-member Popular Revolutionary Com-
mittee “Camilo Torres,” which began
infiltrating into Honduras from
Nicaragua in July 1984 to establish a
guerrilla network.

They have identified the FSLN’s
Department of International Relations
(DRI) as essential in providing fo d,
lodging, transportation, and training
while in Nicaragua. They also stated
that they were members of an ‘Interna-
tional Brigade” led by Sandinista mili-
tary officers that fought Nicaraguan
armed resistance forces in the Jalapa
area of northern Nicaragua. They
reported that the same “brigade” in-
cluded some 50 Costa Rican members of
the Popular Vanguard Party.

NICARAGUAN SECURITY
PERSONNEL

Miguel BOLANOS Hunter was a
member of the Nicaraguan General
Directorate of State Security (DGSE). A
Sandinista since 1978, he defected in
May 1983. For 4 years, Bolanos worked
in the F-7 (Mass Organizations) and F-2
(Foreign Diplomats) sections of the
DGSE. He described the FMLN logis-
ties structure established by the San-
dinistas in Managua. According to
Bolanos, members of the FSLN Direc-
torate, the DRI, the Fifth Directorate,
the Ministry of Interior, and the armed
forces oversee the deliveries to the
FMLN.

Reymundo MUNOZ Diaz and six
other DGSE agents were arrested by
Honduran security services in April
1985. While a member of the Nicara-
guan General Directorate of State
Security (DGSE), he commanded a
group of DGSE agents whose mission
was to smuggle weapons to the “Cin-
choneros” in Honduras. Beginning in
November 1984, Munoz made three
trips to Honduras transporting M-16
rifles and other weapons by hiding them
in cornfilled gunnysacks carried by
mules.



4. Nicaraguans in Exile

Sandinista internationalism has victim-
ized Nicaraguans as well as Nicaragua’s
neighbors. Part of the problem arises
from the irony' that the movement that
bears the name of Sandino, a nationalist
who rejected communist ties, has
sacrificed Nicaraguan nationalism to in-
ternationalism.! This has intensified the
suffering of ordinary Nicaraguan
citizens. In the political arena, many of
those who opposed Somoza and sup-
ported the Sandinistas in 1979 were
forced into exile as the prospects of an
open, democratic system of government
emerging in Nicaragua faded.

Fears that the FSLN’s new men
with guns would be dominant were in-
itially discounted in the hope that the
Sandinistas would understand that
governing a country demanded a dif-
ferent approach from that required to
overthrow a dictator. Indeed, the pro-

grams and early legislation of the new
Government of National Reconstruction
(GRN) gave the Nicaraguan people, its
neighbors, and the international com-
munity as a whole reason to hope that
the dictatorial patterns of the past had
been broken.?

Within a year, however, Violeta de
Chamorro3 and Alfonso Robelo,* two
non-Sandinista members of the GRN
junta, resigned in protest at Sandinista
actions. Nonetheless, the Sandinistas
retained a facade of pluralism by
appointing non-Sandinistas in their
place.® Nicaragua kept good relations
with Western countries and received
substantial amounts of assistance for the
reconstruction of Nicaraguan society.

Sandinista intentions regarding the
future direction of Nicaraguan society
became more explicit in mid-1980 when
Defense Minister Humberto Ortega
announced the postponement until 1985
of the elections promised in the junta’s
program. Controls over the press and
the private sector were expanded sub-
stantially.® A “State of Economic and
Social Emergency” was declared which,
among other things, made it a crime to
spread “false” economic news or to
engage in strikes.” Sandinista Defense
Committees, block organizations follow-
ing a Cuban model, served as the “eyes
and ears” of the FSLN in detecting
antiregime sentiment and organizing
support for Sandinista activities.® After
rationing began, they assumed a role in
the distribution of some food and other
essential goods to party members and
nonmembers alike.

1FSLN leaders claim the problem does not
exist because their situation is unique. “QOurs
is one of the few revolutions, perhaps the
only one, that achieved the formation of a
vast alliance, internal as well as external”
(Victor Tirado Lopez, Barricada, December
17, 1984)

2Among many other explicit undertak-
ings, the junta promised:

* Full respect for enumerated human
rights, including freedom of the press and of
thought, conscience, and worship;

* The unrestricted functioning of political
parties regardless of ideology;

* An independent and nonaligned foreign
policy;

* A mixed economy and support for Cen-
tral American integration;

» Establishment of union rights and
guarantee of the right to strike; and

* A “minimum” permanent military
establishment.

These promises and many others were set
forth in the July 9 program provided to the
0AS, the July 20 Fundamental Statute, and
the September 17 Law on Rights and
Guarantees of Nicaraguans.

3“When after a few months I realized
that the course promised did not correspond

to what was being done, I left the Junta. ...

The principles for which we all fought until
we won the departure from power of
Anastasio Somoza Debayle have been
flagrantly betrayed by the party in power,
that is, the Sandinist Front of National
Liberation . . .."” Violeta B. de Chamorro,
August 13, 1985 (letter addressed to the
Honorable Joao Baena Soares, OAS
Secretary General, Washington, D.C.).

4T withdrew from the government junta
on 22 April 1980 after very serious
disagreements with the Sandinist National
Liberation Front ... [which] because it had
the arms, imposed some Marxist-Leninist
deviations. . . . I knew that there were Marx-
ists within the Sandinist Front. I was not
aware that there was complete Marxist-
Leninist control . . ..” (Alfonso Robelo,
February 1981, in an interview by Francisco
Talavera in Managua, Nicaragua. as pub-
lished by ABC, Madrid, March 12, 1981,
pp. 8-9). Other prominent Nicaraguans who
left official positions in the government
include: Jose Francisco Cardenal, named Vice
President of the Council of State in 1980 but
resigned soon after his appointment; Edgard
Macias, anti-Somoza militant, head of the
Popular Social Christian Party and former
Vice Minister of Labor in the GRN; Jaime
Montealegre, former Vice President of the
Council of State; and Alvaro Taboada, former
Sandinista ambassador to Ecuador.

5Among the factors precipitating the
departure of Chamorro and Robelo was the
FSLN’s consolidation of its effective control
over the government by modifying the com-
position of the Council of State to ensure a

majority would represent Sandinista
organizations. Only then was the council, a
representative “revolutionary” body in
theory coequal with the junta, convened for
the first time. Despite efforts by Sandinista
authorities to distinguish between them, from
this date the FSLN and the Government of
Nicaragua must be considered as essentially
identical.

6By 1979 the FSLN had decided that “In
July 1979, pressures . . . to preserve the
bourgeois democratic approach . . . failed”
(*“72-Hour Document,” p. 12—see footnote 4,
p- 8). The FSLN rapidly took over almost all
press outlets, in the end leaving only La
Prensa, a symbol of resistance to Somoza
and of the regime’s “commitment” to
pluralism, any degree of independence. Cen-
sorship ‘regarding matters that relate to the
country’s domestic security” was first in-
stituted by Decree 512, issued in August
1980. It has been expanded on several occa-
sions since then. The private sector has been
intimidated and its independence curtailed
through constant political attacks, regulation,
and control of raw materials and foreign
exchange.

"La Gaceta, September 10, 1981. These
rights were further limited in 1982 by the
“Law of National Emergency” (La Gaceta,
March 20, 1982).

8Robert S. Leiken, “Nicaragua’s Untold
Stories,” The New Republic (October 8,
1984), pp. 46, 50.

43






Adolfo CALERO Portocarrero, a
lifelong opponent of Somoza, has been
president of the National Directorate
and commander in chief of the armed
forces of the FDN since December 1983.
Calero graduated from the University of
Notre Dame in 1953, did graduate work
in industrial management at Syracuse
University, and holds a law degree from
the University of Central America in
Nicaragua. He began his political career
in the 1950s as an activist in the Con-
servative Party. In 1959 he helped orga-
nize managerial strikes in support of an
insurrection headed by Pedro Joaquin
Chamorro, editor of the opposition daily
La Prensa. In 1978, Calero served as
his party’s representative in the Broad
Opposition Front (FAQ), and was jailed
for initiating a general strike against
Somoza. After attempting to cooperate
with the Sandinistas, Calero went into
exile at the end of 1982. He helped
found UNO in 1985.

Enrique BERMUDEZ Varela is the
military commander of the FDN armed
forces. He served in the National Guard
under Somoza and was assigned to
Washington as defense attache in 1977.
In December 1982, he was cleared of
“war crimes” by the FSLN’s chief press
spokesman. He has described himself as
a professional soldier and, under
Somoza, apolitical. He is a graduate of
the Nicaraguan Military Academy and
received training at the U.S. Army
Command and General Staff College and
the U.S. Army School of the Americas.
He also received military training in
Brazil.

Alfonso ROBELO Callejas, political
coordinator of ARDE and head of the
Nicaraguan Democratic Movement
(MDN), was trained as a chemical
engineer. He served as director of the
University of Central America from
1970 to 1972 and was president of the
Nicaraguan Chamber of Commerce until
1975. He then headed the development
institute INDE. Following the assassina-
tion of La Prensa editor Pedro Joaquin
Chamorro, Robelo founded the MDN, a
moderate, democratic-oriented political
party of businessmen, industrialists, and
professionals opposed to the Somoza

I am an internationalist because I am a free man and I want to
contribute to the liberation of all men . .. [But] in this moment, I
express the sentiments of the majority of Nicaraguans when I say
that the hour has arrived when they [the internationalists/ should
leave us alone—those who are not involved in activities that con-
tribute to health and education. As someone who loves my people I
take honor, like Sandino, in calling for all Nicaraguans to put
themselves on a war footing as long as there is a foreign soldier on

the native soil.

Eden Pastora, April 15, 198212

I joined the Revolutionary Government with. . . the conviction that
the Revolution would be good, first and foremost, for Nicaragua.
My experience has disillusioned me: dogmatism and adventurism
seem to have wiped out the democratic and pluralistic ideals which,
in 1979, united all Nicaraguan advocates of freedom. . .. Certain

Sandinista revolutionary leaders .

.. [profess] allegiance to an inter-

nationalist ideology . . . at the expense of the basic interests of the
nation-state of Nicaragua. [Emphasis in original]

Arturo Cruz, 198313

regime. After the revolution Robelo was
one of the five members of the original
1979 junta. He resigned in 1980 because
of Marxist tendencies in the FSLN-
dominated government and the growing
Cuban influence in the country. Har-
assed by the FSLN after his resigna-
tion, he was finally forced into exile in
1982, at which time he and Eden
Pastora founded the Democratic Revolu-
tionary Alliance, ARDE. In 1985,
Robelo helped found UNO.

Eden PASTORA Gomez, the legen-
dary Commander Zero and leader of the
FRS (Sandino Revolutionary Front),
was the Sandinistas’ most popular hero
and a senior official of their government
until he distanced himself from them in
1981. In August 1978 Pastora led the
unit that captured the National Palace
in Managua. That operation gained the
release of 59 political prisoners, but its
lasting significance was that it captured
the imagination of the Nicaraguan peo-
ple and enabled the Sandinistas to
become the symbol of resistance to
Somoza. After the fall of Somoza,

Pastora became Vice Minister of In-
terior and then Vice Minister of
Defense. In April 1982 he announced his
opposition to the Sandinista regime.
That same year he was cofounder of
ARDE. In April 1983 he took up arms
against the Sandinistas in southern
Nicaragua.

Wyecliffe DIEGO is a Miskito Indian
leader from the Atlantic coast town of
Puerto Cabezas. He was a Moravian
pastor and an active member of the
Miskito organization ALPROMISU. He
was jailed by Somoza in 1971 for
allegedly being a communist. When
MISURASATA was formed in 1979,
Diego served as a member of its execu-
tive board. Reacting to the Sandinista
mistreatment of Nicaragua’s indigenous
population, Diego went into exile and
helped found the armed resistance
group MISURA. He was wounded in a
Sandinista-engineered 1982 assassination
attempt.

12Qtatement read in San Jose, Costa Rica,

announecing his break with the FSLN and
reported in FBIS, April 16, 1982. The
translation used here is that of Shirley
Christian, Nicaragua, Revolulion in the
Family (New York, Random House, 1985),
p. 321,

7

13Arturo J. Cruz, “Nicaragua’s Imperiled
Revolution,” Foreign Affairs (Summer 1983),
pp. 1031-1032.
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6. FMLN Evaluation of the 1981 Offensive!

FARABUNDO MARTI FRONT FOR
NATIONAL LIBERATION

TO THE SALVADOREAN PEOPLE

TO THE PEOPLE OF CENTRAL AMERICA
AND THE WORLD

The General Command of the Fara-
bundo Marti Front for National Libera-
tion (FMLN) declares to all its sister
peoples—those of Central America and
of all the world—that the great opera-
tion comprised in the plan for the laun-
ching of the general revolutionary offen-
sive, begun on the 10th of January, was
carried out with success by the regular
units, guerrilla and militia units of our
popular revolutionary army.

Since the 10th of January, when this
General Command of the FMLN issued
the orders for the offensive 1 and 2, the
revolutionary armed forces carried out
the following actions.

In the Central Front—
Modesto Ramirez

* Seige of the barracks of
Chalatenango and the capture of the
city during the 10, 11 and 12th days of
January.

e Seige of the barracks of Paraiso
and control of the access routes between
this point and the city of Chalatenango
during the 10th, 11th and 12th days of
January.

e Attacks at enemy garrisons in the
towns of San Antonio La Cruz, Arcatao,
La Palma Patanera, San Francisco
Morazan, San Antonio Los Ranchos, all
in the province of Chalatenango.

¢ Taking of Suchitoto and seige of
the enemy garrison on January 11 and
12.

e Capture of the city of Apopa on
the 10th of January.

¢ Control of the communication
routes between the Troncal del Norte
highway and the towns of Aguilares,
Suchitoto and San Jose Guayabal.

In San Salvador

* The capture of three radio stations
on the 11th of January.

o Attack on the Air Force. The Air
Force was unable to take off for several
days.

¢ The taking of Soyapango, Me-
jicanos, Cuscatancingo, and fighting in
Ciudad Delgado, Tonacatepeque.

¢ Control of the highways of San
Marcos, Santo Tomas and Comalapa.

¢ Harassment of the barracks of the
National Guard and of the Rural Police.

Western Front—Jose Feliciano Amas

e Attack against the 2nd Infantry
Brigade in the city of Santa Ana, a unit
in which a company of soldiers led by
two officers rose up and went over to
fight with the people and the FMLN on
the 10th of January, after burning the
arsenal of the garrison.

¢ Attacks against the barracks of
the National Police, the National Guard
and the Rural Police, on the 10th, 11th
and 12th of January in Santa Ana.

o Attack on the enemy garrisons in
Metapan, in the province of Santa Ana,
and the capture of the city on the 12th
and 13th of January.

e Attack on the enemy barracks and
popular insurrection in the city of
Chalchuapa, the second largest in the
province of Santa Ana; attacks on the
enemy garrisons in San Julian, Armenia,
Acajutla, Sonsonate, Cara Sucia and
Bola de Monte.

e Attack on the Border Police, the
10th of January in Santa Ana.

In the Nearcentral Front—
Anastacio Aquino

e Attack and harassment of the Na-
tional Guard barracks of Villa Victoria.

¢ Capture and annihilation of enemy
military units in Cinquera in the prov-
ince of Cabanas on January 12th.

e Harassment of enemy forces in

Jutiapa the 14th of January.

e Capture of Santa Clara, on
January 11th.

¢ Continuous attacks in Tecoluca
between the 10th and 15th of January.

e Harassing actions against the bar-
racks of the city of San Vicente from
the 11th of January on.

¢ Control of the Pan American
Highway, from San Rafael Cedros to
Apastepeque.

e Control of the coastal highway
from Puente de Oro to Zacatecoluca.

Eastern Front—Francisco Sanchez

¢ Occupation of the city of Perquin
and assault on the enemy garrison on
the 11th of January, in the province of
Morazan.

e Occupation of the city of Osicala,
Morazan on January 13th.

e Qccupation of the cities of El
Rosario, Corinto, Nueva Esparta, Santa
Rosa de Lima on the 12th of January
(provinces of Morazan and La Union).

* Seige and assault on the barracks
at Gotera during the 13, 14 and 15 of
January.

e Ambush at the top of Rio Seco of
a powerful column of reinforcements
marching to Gotera from the Central
Barracks of the Infantry Brigade sta-
tioned in San Miguel. This column,
which included armored vehicles and ar-
tillery, was stopped and in large part
disorganized.

¢ Ambush of reinforcements that
were going from La Leona to the city of
Puerto de La Union.

e Diversionary actions were carried
out in the city of San Miguel.

e Control of the highways between
San Miguel and Gotera, between San
Miguel and Usulutan and El Delirio.

!Appendix 12, “Evaluation by the
General Command of the FMLN Upon the
First Phase of the General Offensive,”
pp. 84-88 of the FMLN-FDR booklet, E!
Salvador on the Threshold of a Democratic

Revolutionary Victory, distributed in the
United States in English during February-
March 1981 (complete text and spelling as in
original).
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The high degree of coordination of
those actions in the four war fronts, the
strength of the attacks, the high moral
of our fighters—demonstrate clearly the
high military capacity of our forces.

During several days, they managed
to annihilate numerous positions, lay
seige to and contain strategic military
units of the genocidal Junta, stop its
communications and supplies, intercept
the reinforcements that were sent in the
majority of the few cases where the
enemy high command was able to move
troops in the national territory.

The impact of the initial phase of the
general offensive on the ranks of the
puppet and assassin army, managed to
draw from its ranks patriotic officers
and soldiers of our people who are today
fighting with their brothers, directing
their arms against the real enemies of
our people, a valient attitude that is a
vibrant call to those decent officers and
soldiers who still remain within the
structures of the fascist command.

Today, the Salvadorean workers, the
entire people, can have proof that their
vanguard, the FMLN, has known how
to forge the instruments that will bring
about a total revolutionary victory.

In San Salvador, where the elite
strategic forces of the enemy are con-
centrated and where the massacre that
the fascist dictatorship has carried out
for several years reached its highest
volume in 1980, the working masses
most conscious carried out with great
valor the call for the strike. The FMLN
recognizes that, except for the attack on
the central base of the Air Force, it did
not manage to strike the forceful
military blows in the capital that were
needed to sustain the full development
of the strike and to set off the popular
insurrection.

The genocidal government has tried
to take advantage of this fact through
its delirious and lying propaganda.
Other voices have also been heard mak-
ing superficial judgements about the
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supposed refusal of the popular masses
in the capital to take the road of revolu-
tion. We are absolutely certain that the
heroic and ecombative people of San
Salvador will give full lie to such
speculations and we call upon them to
prepare for the coming battles, at the
same time that we, call upon the ranks
of our member organizations of the
FMLN and their revolutionary armed
forces to organize in all details the
coming great revolutionary actions in
San Salvador.

The Junta has had no recourse but
to seek the support of mercenaries and
launch 2 lying campaign of propaganda,
backing itself with the muzzling of the
means of communications, including per-
manently tying together all the radio
stations.

But this will not permit it to make
up for its losses, nor recover the in-
itiative in the war. Qur forces, within
the context of the general offensive, are
now carrying out a necessary and
previously planned movement that
guarantees the continuation of the offen-
sive to new and higher phases.

The military-Christian Democratic
Junta and its murderous armed forces
were rocked by the energetic initiation
of our general offensive. Desperately,
they seized upon the intensification of
the repressive terror against an un-
armed population as other rotten dic-
tatorships had done as their end ap-
proached. They established the curfew
and the Martial Law with this end to
this end.

The government of the United
States rushed to facilitate and increase
the sending of military advisors, arms
and ammunition to help the Junta main-
tain itself and extend the massacre
against our people. At the same time,
the imperialists are threatening the
Nicaraguan people and, with the new in-
terventionist steps they have taken, are
shaping up the serious danger of the ex-
tension of the conflict to all of Central
America, thus threatening the peace of
the world.

The FMLN, at the head of the
heroic Salvadorean people, will continue
advancing in its struggle to the final
liberation of our people, without taking
fright before the stubborn imperialist
intervention.

The people of Sandino, who opened
the future of Central America, will not
kneel before the imperialists. The people
of Central America, who are now living
in the most important hour of their
history, will close ranks to prevent the
sad mourderous designes of imperialism
from coming to pass.

Nine of every ten U.S. made bullets
that come into the hands of the Junta
go directly to spill the blood of the
unarmed population, and are designed to
kill children, women and the elderly.
Each new step that imperialism takes in
its military escalation against the
Salvadorean people, increases the threat
against the Nicaraguan revolution and
against peace in Central America and
the Caribbean, and threatens the peace
of the world.

We are sure that the peoples of the
world and the governments that love
peace and defend the principles of self-
determination, will raise their powerful
voices and set in motion their actions of
solidarity to hold back the military
escalation of U.S. imperialism against
the Salvadorean people.

Forward fighters, forward guerrillas
and militias, forward companeros
workers and patriotic soldiers, continue
the battles that will bring peace, justice,
liberty and true independence to our
native country.

UNITED IN THE FIGHT

TO THE FINAL VICTORY!

REVOLUTION OR DEATH,

WE WILL WIN!

SALVADOR CAYETANO CARPIO
(MARCIAL)

SCHAFIK JORGE HANDAL

ROBERTO RoCA

IN REPRESENTATION OF JOAQUIN
VILLALOBOS—JUAN RAMON MEDRANO

FERMAN CIENFUEGOS
January 21, 1981



7. Sources

Many of the materials used in this study
are readily available in major libraries.
In addition to magazines and
newspapers, examples of such readily
available materials include the Daily
Report (Vol. VI, Latin America) of the
Foreign Broadcast Information Service
(cited herein as FBIS), which records in
English translation significant news
items from throughout the world. Also
widely available are the annual volumes
of American Foreign Policy: Current
Documents, published by the Office of
the Historian, Department of State,
Washington, D.C., and other U.S.
Government publications.!

Unfortunately, many other primary
sources for the study of contemporary
history are not as readily available. As
the Central American conflict has con-
tinued, however, the number of people
who have discussed their experiences
and direct participation in the conflict
has increased. Two separate appendices
to this study are dedicated to such
people—frequently among the most
valuable contributors to the under-
standing of contemporary events (see - -
Appendices 3 and 4).

Then there are written records. Be-
tween the day in November 1980 when
Salvadoran police found a cache of
documents hidden in the walls of the
home of the brother of the Secretary
General of the Salvadoran Communist
Party, and the day in April 1985 when
Salvadoran Army units captured Com-
mander Nidia Diaz along with archives
of the Central Committee of the PRTC
after a battle near a regional command
post, literally thousands of Salvadoran
guerrilla documents—including letters,
diaries, travel records, weapons inven-
tories, and related papers—have been
captured. These now include, in addition
to the PCES and PRTC files mentioned
above, major records of the People’s
Revolutionary Army (ERP) captured in
January 1981. Three of the five major
components of the FMLN may,
therefore, be studied through their own
words and records.

These FMLN documents constitute
an invaluable original source and will be
made available to scholars and other in-
terested analysts in a manner similar to
that of the documents obtained in
Grenada which were deposited in the
National Archives.?

Finally, some sources have been con-

sulted but cannot be released to the
public for reasons of national security.
They include:

e Telegrams, memoranda, reports,
and other records retained by the
Foreign Affairs Information Manage-
ment Center (A/FAIM) and the Bureau
of Inter-American Affairs (ARA),
Department of State.

¢ Telegrams to and from U.S.
diplomatic posts in Central America,
especially Nicaragua, including
restricted-distribution records, as main-
tained in the Information Management
Section of the Executive Secretariat
(S/S-1), Department of State.

o Records of the U.S. intelligence
community with both technical and
human source reporting, including infor-
mation from Nicaraguans from all walks
of life, members of the Nicaraguan in-
telligence and security organizations, as
well as full debriefing by various securi-
ty services in the region of captured in-
surgents and defectors. \

One final caveat—the fact that an
open citation is given for a particular
event does not imply the absence of cor-
roborating classified information. In
some cases, unclassified sources were
sought out to protect classified ones.

1Examples of recent publications related
to this one include:

Sustaining a Consistent Policy in Cen-
tral America: One Year After the National
Bipartisan Commission Report, report to
the President from the Secretary of State,
U.S. Department of State, Special Report
No. 124, April 1985.

The Soviet-Cuban Connection in Central
America and the Caribbean, Departments of
State and Defense, Washington, D.C., March
1985.

“News Briefing on Intelligence Informa-
tion on External Support of the Guerrillas in
El Salvador,” U.S. Ambassador to El
Salvador Thomas R. Pickering and Gen. Paul
F. Gorman, Commander in Chief of the U.S.
Southern Command, at the State Depart-
ment, Washington, D.C., August 8, 1984.

#*J,S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE: 1986-491-783:20073

Background Paper: Nicaragua's Military
Build-up and Support for Central American
Subversion, Departments of State and
Defense, Washington, D.C., July 18, 1984.

2Copies of 19 documents from the PCES
and ERP caches were made available to the
press by the Department of State, accom-
panied by English translations on February
23, 1981 (see footnote 2, p. 5 of this study).
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